

An Roinn Tithíochta, Rialtais Áitiúil agus Oidhreachta Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage

Climatological Note No. 21

CLIMATE DATA FOR USE IN BUILDING DESIGN – PAST AND FUTURE WEATHER FILES FOR OVERHEATING RISK ASSESSMENT

Seánie Griffin, Carla Mateus, and Keith Lambkin

Met Éireann, Glasnevin Hill, Dublin 9 March 2023

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage as part of the project 'Climate maps and data to support building design standards in Ireland'. The work is in support of Action 203 of Ireland's Climate Action Plan 2021 and Action BE/23/36 of Ireland's Climate Action Plan 2023 - *Develop specific climate maps and data for use in building design to enhance resilience in support of climate change adaptation*, and to support the National Adaptation Framework.

The authors are grateful to the collaboration of the stakeholders and members of the steering committee members of this project for the regular meetings and their insightful discussions and contributions to this report: Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage (Edel Murray, Dr Emmanuel Bourdin, John R. Wickham, Seán Armstrong, Simon Dolphin and Simon McGuinness), National Standards Authority of Ireland (Gary O'Sullivan, Dr Ken Murphy and Yvonne Wylde), Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (Antonella Uras and Orla Coyle), ARUP (Réamonn MacReamoinn), Kavanagh Mansfield & Partners (Jim Mansfield).

Special thanks to Dr Matt Eames (University of Exeter) for his enlightened discussions on the methodology employed to generate the weather files for the UK at several meetings. His feedback on our questions was extremely valuable and greatly appreciated.

Thanks to Keith Lambkin (Met Éireann) for his regular meetings, discussions and feedback on this report.

Disclaimer

Although every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the material contained in this publication, complete accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Neither Met Éireann nor the authors accept any responsibility whatsoever for loss or damage occasioned or claimed to have been occasioned, in part or in full, as a consequence of any person acting, or refraining from acting, as a result of a matter contained in this publication. All or part of this publication may be reproduced without further permission, provided the source is acknowledged.

© Met Éireann 2023

Citation: Griffin, S., Mateus C., and Lambkin, K. 2023. Climate data for use in building design – Past and Future weather files for overheating risk assessment. Climatological Note No. 21. Met Éireann.

Contents

1	Introduction	4
2	Methodology	5
	2.1 Location selection and data	5
	2.2 Test Reference Year (TRY)	6
	2.3 Design Summer Years (DSYs)	7
	2.4 Climate projections	8
3	Results	9
	3.1 Past TRY	10
	3.2 Past DSYs	12
	3.3 Future weather files (TRY and DSYs)	13
4	Discussion	13
5	Conclusions	14

1 Introduction

The climate of Ireland is changing. Consequently, the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage funded this project to update 'Climate maps and data to support building design standards in Ireland'. The motivation of this particular work was to produce a set of representative 'weather files' for use in the building energy modelling sector.

The warming climate is a challenge for society which requires both adaptation and mitigation in order to deal with its impacts, as was highlighted by the recent IPCC report (Masson-Delmotte et al., 2021). One area which has the potential to be substantially impacted is the built environment (Bamdad et al., 2021), as increasing temperatures will lead to either more overheating or greater cooling demands in buildings. Which might lead to either more negative health outcomes for occupants (Holmes et al., 2016; Lomas and Porritt, 2017; Santamouris, 2020) or would lead to higher costs due to greater energy consumption (Dodoo and Gustavsson, 2016; Santamouris, 2020). The use of building energy models are an important process in designing new buildings and researching new design methods (Brembilla et al., 2020; Virk et al., 2015). The conditions experienced within a building are the result of a variety of different influences. Building energy models simulate the interaction of these factors and return output that represents the expected ambient conditions within the building. This can include the heating and ventilation from the building's own infrastructure, but also can be influenced by the external environment, including the weather. Providing realistic input data for these models is important to accurately assess the ability of a building to cope with typical conditions experienced in the recent past, as well as conditions which are projected to occur in the future (Herrera et al., 2017). These weather-based input files (often referred to as simply "weather files") comprise of 365 days of hourly data from a range of weather variables that have the potential to have an impact on the ambient conditions within a building. These include temperature, humidity, solar radiation, wind and pressure. Previously the only weather files that existed in Ireland were the CIBSE files for Belfast. This work aims to rectify this by providing the relevant data for a number of locations around the country. This will allow building designers/modelers to simulate building performance more accurately using weather data which is representative of Irish locations and help Irish building designers to meet sustainability goals. such as the EU Taxonomy (TEG, 2020a, 2020b).

These 'weather files' typically come in two forms: a Test Reference Year (TRY), which represents a single year of the representative average conditions, and Design Summer Years (DSYs), which are a collection of three years with summers that contained significant overheating events. For the TRY file each month is chosen individually based on a selection criteria from the overall dataset, which determines which was the closest to 'average' conditions, using some form of a statistical metric. This is repeated for all 12 months to produce the final file. In this case the Finkelstein-Schaefer statistic (Finkelstein and Schafer, 1971) was used, having been widely used previously for this purpose elsewhere globally (Eames et al., 2016; Lam et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2010). Meanwhile the DSY files are selected as an entire single year based on an extreme value analysis of an overheating metric. DSYs enable building designers and modelers to simulate building performance during periods of extreme overheating. The Static Weighted Cooling Degree Hours (SWCDH) has been used as an overheating metric in the UK (Eames, 2016), and the same method was employed for this work also. As well as representations of weather conditions based on past data, which are likely to be relevant in the short term, there is also a need to consider the projected affects of climate change. To produce future TRYs and DSYs, climate model output is used to simulate future scenarios. This comes with challenges, as the requirement to have TRYs and DSYs at hourly resolution remains, but the majority of climate model data is not stored at such a high temporal resolution. Different methods have been used in the past to navigate this issue, such as 'weather generators' (Eames et al., 2011) or the 'delta-change' method (Jylhä et al., 2020; Velashjerdi Farahani et al., 2021; Wehrli et al., 2022). The delta-change approach was employed here to produce the future files under 27 different climate scenarios (combinations of time periods, emission scenarios and model sensitivities) for both TRY and DSYs.

The principal deliverable from this work was to produce a suite of TRYs and DSYs, for both past and future scenarios, at a representative collection of six Irish locations. These can be used when designing buildings to ensure that they are capable of coping with current conditions, as well as those that are projected in the future due to climate change. The remainder of this report presents an overview of the data and methods

used the generate these files, along with a brief description of some results.

2 Methodology

The following section will present an overview of the data and methods used in this work. This includes the choice of stations and data used, the methods used to calculate the respective weather files and the methods used to generate the future weather files using climate model output.



Figure 1: Map of six locations where TRY and DSYs were produced. Unfilled circles represent replacement stations that were used when the two stations in the midlands closed.

2.1 Location selection and data

Weather files are produced for specific locations, with a particular focus on large population centres. To capture a broad range of areas around Ireland the six locations shown in Figure 1, and also listed in Table 1, were chosen for analysis. These were chosen to give the broadest spatial coverage, including large population centres (the three airport locations) and a mix of both coastal and inland locations. Additionally stations were also chosen to make the best use of stations with long-term records of all variables required for producing weather files, particularly incoming solar radiation.

The two inland stations, Birr and Clones, were closed in the late 2000s. Both stations had long term records of all the variables required, Table 1, and as a result it was decided to merge them with the nearby stations of Gurteen and Ballyhaise respectively. This method of merging stations has been previously used for similar work in the UK where station closures have occurred (Eames, 2016; Eames et al., 2016). Each weather file has a prescribed set of weather variables that are required, namely: present weather code, cloud cover, 2m dry bulb temperature, 2m wet bulb temperature, relative humidity, mean sea-level pressure, 10m wind direction, 10m wind speed, global solar radiation and diffuse solar radiation. Each weather files is comprised of a 365 day year of data at an hourly resolution. The present weather code is allowed to have missing values (marked as "-999"), but all other variables need to have a complete set of 365×24 hours of data values in each weather file.

Location Station(s)		Missing Variable(s)		
Bolmullot	Belmullet (manual)	None		
Demunet	Belmullet (automatic)	Cloud Cover		
Birr	Birr	None		
	Gurteen	Cloud Cover, Radiation		
Clones	Clones	None		
Ciones	Ballyhaise	Cloud Cover, Radiation		
Cork	Cork Airport	Radiation		
Dublin	Dublin Airport	None		
Limerick	Shannon Airport	Radiation		

Table 1: List of six locations, with stations used and missing variables, where applicable.

Two particular challenges emerged with this criteria. Firstly some variables were not observed at certain stations and secondly some stations had data gaps at the site, which is common due to instrument calibration or similar station upkeep. The stations that had missing variables are listed in Table 1. The two airports in the south (Cork and Shannon Airports) do not have pyranometer measurements of radiation. Also the station at Belmullet became automated in 2012, when this happened the station no longer produced observations of cloud cover. Similarly the two replacement stations for Birr and Clones (Gurteen and Ballyhaise respectively) lacked both cloud cover and radiation observations. The general practice for dealing with data gaps when constructing weather files is to either interpolate or replace the data. As most data gaps encountered were typically over a number of hours, in which case interpolating across these gaps would offer little value, the decision was taken to fill all data gaps using reanalysis data for both scenarios described above.

The ERA5 reanalysis (Hersbach et al., 2020), produced by the European Centre for Medium-range Weather Forecasting, was selected for this purpose as it has been demonstrated to model these weather variables well (Babar et al., 2019; Doddy Clarke et al., 2021). Data from the reanalysis was bilinearly interpolated using the nearest surrounding grid-points to the station and used as a proxy for observations when required. This ensured a continuous series of hourly observations to be used when selected and constructing the resulting weather files.

Aside from meteorological data, weather files also require information on solar angles, namely the solar altitude and declination. A Microsoft Excel-based solar calculator produced by NOAA (NOAA, 2022) was adapted into an R function and used to calculate the relevant angles, based on station coordinates and the year being considered. With these, all the necessary data were in place to generate the representative weather files from past data.

2.2 Test Reference Year (TRY)

As mentioned in Section 1, the TRY is used to capture average climatic conditions that will be influencing the building externally (Eames et al., 2016). In order to create this file, each month is considered in isolation and a representative example of this month is selected from a 30-year reference period. In this case for the past TRY, the period 1991-2020 was used. For example, the January that represents the "most average" conditions is selected from the 30 different Januarys from 1991-2020. In order to select a given month, a measure is required to assess how far a given month is away from its average conditions. One such metric is the Finkelstein-Schaefer (FS) statistic (Finkelstein and Schafer, 1971) which has been widely used for this particular application (Eames et al., 2016; Lam et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2010). This measures the difference in the cumulative density function (CDF) of daily mean values of a weather variable within a given month and year versus the CDF of values for all years of that given month. When selecting a month for the TRY, the FS statistic was calculated for temperature, relative humidity, global radiation and wind speed. The mean of the FS values for 2m temperature (FS_T) , relative humidity (FS_H) and global solar radiation (FS_R) were calculated. This combined FS score (FS_C) was defined as follows:

$$FS_c = \frac{FS_T + FS_H + FS_R}{3}.$$
(1)

The selection of a TRY month was then made using a two step process. Firstly the three years with the lowest values of FS_c were selected. Of those three years, the year with the lowest FS value for 10m wind speed was then selected as the month to be included in the TRY. This was then repeated for all months to select the 12 months to make up the TRY.

Consecutive months that make up a TRY are generally unlikely to come from the same year, therefore the end of a given month might not match up to the start of the next month; e.g. if the January TRY might be from 1993 and the February TRY from 2004. This may lead to non-physical jumps in the data at these month boundaries. To accommodate this, smoothing functions were employed. A time window of ± 12 hours around the month boundary were chosen for smoothing using local regression (LOESS: locally estimated scatterplot smoothing) method (Cleveland et al., 1992) in the event that the two months came from different years.

2.3 Design Summer Years (DSYs)

The DSYs are weather files which are used to capture the weather from years that contain particularly warm summers, which may stress a building from the perspective of overheating (Eames, 2016). Unlike the TRY, the DSYs are not a composite of months from different years. A single year is selected based on some selection criteria using metrics of overheating. Initial work in this area selected a single year to represent the DSY with a moderate overheating event (CIBSE, 2002). Further work found that more intense DSYs would also be needed to capture the extremes that can occur (Eames, 2016; Jentsch et al., 2014). As a result three DSYs are now produced for a given location as standard practice (Eames, 2016). DSY1 represents a typical overheating event, it was initially classified as being the 3rd warmest summer in a 20 year period (Jentsch et al., 2014). This was later updated to be defined as the summer with a return period of 7 years, when past overheating data were fitted to a generalised extreme value (GEV) distribution, as outlined in (Eames, 2016). The DSY2 and DSY3 were then chosen from the remaining years with greater return periods than the DSY1 and are characterised by short/intense and long overheating events respectively (Eames, 2016).

Analysis of DSYs in the UK considered a range of overheating metrics, namely the Weighted Cooling Degree Hours (WCDH), Threshold Weighted Cooling Degree Hours (TWCDH) and Static Weighted Cooling Degree Hours (SWCDH). Both WCDH amd TWCDH are calculated using a "comfort temperature" (T_c), which is based on an adaptive thermal comfort model. In the UK, it was found that WCDH produced too few overheating events at temperate locations like Belfast and Edinburgh, which made fitting the GEV distribtuion problematic (Eames, 2016). This was also found for the Irish locations. Therefore the SWCDH was exclusively used for DSY selection. The SWCDH is defined as follows:

$$SWCDH = \sum_{T > T_{rt}} (T - T_{rt})^2,$$
 (2)

where T_{rt} is the regional threshold temperature. This is calculated as the 93rd percentile of two-day rolling mean of daily maximum temperature, as done in Eames, 2016. This was interpreted from Armstrong et al., 2011, based on adverse health outcomes during heatwaves. The thresholds are listed in Table 2.

Station	Threshold (°C)
Belmullet	18.7
Birr	20.6
Clones	20.1
Cork	19.3
Dublin	20.3
Limerick	20.8

Table 2: Regional threshold temperatures (T_{rt}) for calculating SWCDH at each location.

The year for DSY1 was established by calculating annual sums of SWCDH across all hours in the year, according to Equation (2). The values for a 30 year period (1991-2020) were used to fit a GEV distribution, using a maximum likelihood estimation approach (Virtanen et al., 2020). Return periods were then calculated for all years in the dataset. The year with a return period closest to 7 was then selected as DSY1. The remaining years with a return period greater than 7 were then isolated and the individual overheating spells within each year were examined. A spell was considered a prolonged period where the daily sum of SWCDH was greater than 0. If two spells are separated by two days or less of zero SWCDH, they are considered part of the same spell. From this set of spells, they were sorted by accumulated SWCDH and the spell duration and average intensity were calculated. The spell with the highest average intensity and the longest duration were assigned as DSY2 and DSY3 respectively.

2.4 Climate projections



Figure 2: "Rubik's Cube" representation of TRANSLATE climate scenarios, with different axes for emissions, time periods and model sensitivities. Taken from (O'Brien, Enda and Nolan, Paul, in press).

There is also a need to produce a set of future weather files to consider the conditions that are expected to be experienced by buildings in the future due to the warming climate. To do this a collection of TRYs and DSYs were generated for future climate scenarios through the use of climate model output. Future weather files, just like their past equivalents, require data to be at an hourly resolution. Typically, climate model data are not stored at such fine temporal resolution. Previous work in the UK has made use of "weather generators" to temporally downscale climate model output using a statistical approach (Eames et al., 2011). This typically relates a single variable in the climate model output (e.g. daily mean precipitation) to a range

of other variables (temperature, pressure etc), through the use of a statistical model. An alternative method called "delta-change" has been demonstrated as a viable method to generate hourly future projections from climate model data at a daily resolution (Michel et al., 2021). Different versions of this methodology have been employed previously for similar building energy applications (Jylhä et al., 2020; Velashjerdi Farahani et al., 2021; Wehrli et al., 2022). In this case day of year (DOY) averages are calculated for both historic and future climate runs of a given variable, which are then smoothed using a Fourier series. For temperature the delta is calculated as the difference between the future and historical smoothed DOY averages. While for all other variables, the delta is the ratio of these two quantities. These are then applied to a set of hourly observations, either by addition for temperature or scaling for other variables, to generate an hourly representation of future weather conditions for a given climate scenario. This was employed here at the 6 locations.

Output from Met Éireann's TRANSLATE project was used to form the input data for this work (O'Brien, Enda and Nolan, Paul, in press). TRANSLATE is a multi-institutional project which produced a standardised set of climate projections for Ireland, pooling together and post-processing a large number of regional climate model simulations with domains over the country. A combination of a high-resolution downscaled dataset produced by the Irish Centre for High-End Computing (Nolan and Flanagan, 2020) and the Euro-CORDEX ensemble (Jacob et al., 2014) were used as input for TRANSLATE. These datasets are formed of different combinations of regional climate models applied to downscale a collection of global climate models from CMIP5. These data have been categorised in a $3 \times 3 \times 3$ matrix (or "Rubik's Cube"), with each axis representing the time period, emission scenario or model sensitivity, see Figure 2 for an illustrative overview. The three time periods considered were "near-term" (2021-2050), "mid-century" (2041-2070) and "end-century" (2071-2100) conditions, along with historical values for 1976-2005. The emission scenarios are based on representative concentration pathways (RCPs) and are categorised as low (RCP2.6), medium (RCP4.5) and high (RCP8.5) emission scenarios. Lastly the model sensitivity was selected based on the temperature change produced over Ireland by each of the individual global models that comprised the TRANSLATE ensemble. These are accordingly classified as "low", "mid" and "high" sensitivity. Models which use the MPI (Max Planck Institute) global climate model were classified as low sensitivity, models driven by the UK Met Office's HadGEM2-ES global climate model were classified as high sensitivity and the remaining models were classified as mid sensitivity. Temperature data from this climate ensemble have been de-trended (within each 30 year period), bias-corrected (using a quantile mapping approach) and re-gridded onto a common grid to produce a standardised set of projections.

The historical period for the TRANSLATE ensemble was 1976-2005, therefore the previously discussed deltachange method was applied to hourly observations from this same 30-year period at the same 6 locations, see Figure 1. The future "deltas" were calculated for each of the variables required for the files, with differences used for temperature and ratios used for the other remaining variables. These differences or ratios were then applied to the set of hourly observations, e.g. the difference/ratio for DOY = 1, would be applied to all 24 hours of 1st of January for each year from 1976-2005. This is repeated for all 365 days of the year to produce a representation of an hourly future climate projection. This was repeated for all 27 elements of the TRANSLATE "Rubik's cube" scenarios, to generate the full set of future scenarios. These data were then used to calculate a future TRY and DSYs, following the methods outlines in Sections 2.2 and 2.3, for each given climate scenario. While all 27 scenarios were calculated, a subset of 18 scenarios will be released. These align with the scenarios considered in the CIBSE future output. The final dataset produced comprises of 4 future weather files (1 TRY + 3 DSYs) per scenario, leading to a total of 72 future weather files per location.

3 Results

This section presents some findings from the production of both past and future TRYs and DSYs for locations in Ireland. Outlining the application of methods outlined in Section 2 and highlighting the projected changes in overheating for different future climate scenarios.

3.1 Past TRY

Month	Belmullet	Birr	Clones	Cork	Dublin	Limerick
Jan	2003	2013	2006	1995	2006	1999
Feb	2004	2008	2008	2003	2003	2008
Mar	1993	2007	2009	1993	2004	1993
Apr	2005	2002	2019	2003	2004	2018
May	2006	2009	1991	2017	2002	1993
Jun	2008	2000	2013	2008	2000	2005
Jul	2008	2008	1996	1996	2005	2005
Aug	2013	1999	2001	2018	2006	2007
Sep	2003	2001	2010	2005	2001	2020
Oct	1994	1999	1994	2010	2010	1999
Nov	2009	1998	2009	2003	2004	2006
Dec	2019	2017	2014	2019	2017	2019

 Table 3: Constituent months for each of the past TRYs at the six locations.

The methods outlined in Section 2.2 for selecting the months in a Test Reference Year were applied at all six locations. The resulting collection of months making up the TRY at each location are summarised in Table 3.



Figure 3: Boxplots of monthly mean 2m dry bulb temperature at Dublin Airport for 1991-2020. The monthly mean dry bulb temperature for each TRY month is shown by the red diamond markers.

The aim was to select months which best captured the most average conditions across the variables of interest, temperature, humidity, solar radiation and wind speed. This is shown in Figure 3 for dry bulb temperature at Dublin Airport, where the TRY month (red diamond) is generally close to the median value for the month as a whole (central line in boxplot), based on 30 years of data.



Figure 4: Month boundary data for different months (colours) in the past TRY at Belmullet within a 48 hour window around the month change for dry bulb temperature , relative humidity, cloud cover, mean sea-level pressure, wind speed and wind direction.

The smoothing of data between months was performed when consecutive months were taken from different years to avoid large non-physical jumps in the data. This is shown for Belmullet in Figure 4. Notably, the month boundary for July (light yellow) has not been smoothed as the months of June and July in the TRY at Belmullet come from the same year (2008, see Table 3), as a result smoothing was not required.

3.2 Past DSYs

Annual values of SWCDH were calculated at all six locations, using equation (2) and corresponding thresholds in Table 2. The resulting SWCDH values were then fitted to a GEV using a maximum likelihood estimate method, and return periods were calculated for the different observed values. These are shown for Belmullet, Dublin Airport and Shannon Airport in Figure 5, in a similar format to what was shown in Eames, 2016.



Figure 5: Plot of annual total SWCDH versus return period, based on fitted GEV distribution, at Belmullet, Dublin Airport and Shannon Airport.

Year	SWCDH	Return Period (years)
2017	593.8	6.4
2016	655.7	7.2
1976	805.2	9.3
1990	918.9	11.0
2013	934.5	11.3
2021	1159.7	15.0
2006	1169.7	15.2
1983	1191.3	15.6
1989	1283.0	17.2
2018	1589.4	23.1
1995	1832.0	28.1

Table 4: Annual SWCDH and associated return periods at Dublin.

These data were then used to make the selection for DSY1 at all locations, selecting the year with a return period that is closest to seven, as outlined in Section 2.3. This is shown in Table 4 for Dublin Airport, where 2016 was selected as DSY1 based on this criteria. The individual overheating spells that constituted the

Year	Start	Duration (days)	SWCDH	Intensity
1995	1995-07-24	39	1399.3	35.9
2021	2021-07-13	12	1084.1	90.3
1989	1989-07-02	27	1019.6	37.8
2013	2013-07-05	28	873.3	31.2
2006	2006-07-15	15	830.3	55.4
1983	1983-07-02	13	816.7	62.8
2018	2018-06-23	17	754.8	44.4
1990	1990-07-23	11	608.3	55.3
1976	1976-06-21	17	526.4	31.0

Table 5: Individual overheating spells used to calculate DSY2/3 at Dublin, for years with higher return period than DSY1.

 Table 6: Past DSY years selected for all six locations.

DSY	Belmullet	Birr	Clones	Cork	Dublin	Limerick
DSY1	2018	1984	1975	2005	2016	2006
DSY2	2021	1976	2021	1983	2021	2021
DSY3	1995	1995	1995	1995	1995	1995

remaining years with a higher return period than DSY1 were then considered and are shown in Table 5. The years of 2021 and 1995 contained the overheating events with the highest average intensity and duration respectively. These years were selected as the DSY2 and DSY3 at Dublin Airport. This process was repeated to produce the 3 Design Summer Years at all six locations, with the resulting set of years shown in Table 6.

3.3 Future weather files (TRY and DSYs)

The delta change method was used to calculate deltas for all variables for all scenarios, as described in Section 2.4. An example is shown in Figure 6. An additive approach was used for 2m temperature, as shown in Figure 6, while a ratio/multiplicative method was used for all other variables. These ratios and differences were used to map the hourly observations from the historical period (1976-2005) to each of the 27 future climate scenarios. These were then used to calculate a corresponding TRY and set of DSYs for each scenario, using the same methods outlined in the previous sections.

To consider the impact of climate change, the annual total SWCDH was calculated for both the 3 past DSYs and 81 future DSYs at the six locations, Figure 6.

4 Discussion

The projected impact of warming due to climate change is evident Figure 7, with future values predicted to be higher than the past DSYs in all circumstances. The low emission scenario (RCP2.6, top row) produces a peak in overheating in the mid-century, with a small reduction for the end of century period (2071-2100). In the two other scenarios SWCDH is still increasing at the end of the century. There is a broad range of uncertainty, between model sensitivity and emission scenarios. In particular, the most pessimistic scenario scenario of high emissions (RCP8.5, bottom row) and high model sensitivity (the upper limit of the error bars, based on UK Met Office Had-GEM2 model) leads to substantial increases in the magnitude of overheating events.



Figure 6: Example of delta change method for 2m temperature at Dublin Airport under RCP4.5 emission scenario for the period of 2041-2070 and models classified as mid sensitivity. Data has been day of year (DOY) averaged and smoothed using a Fourier series. Colours represent individual ensemble members. The black dashed line is the ensemble mean of the projections, with the historical values shown by the solid black line. The difference between the solid black line and the dashed black line (red shading in the right plot) is the "delta" which is applied to past observations to produce the hourly future projections.

5 Conclusions

This work has produced a set of past and future weather files at a selection of six Irish locations, comprising of some major population centres and a mix of coastal and inland locations. These data will enable building energy modellers to assess the ability of buildings to cope with both current and future climatic conditions when designing new buildings. This will allow them to test both the performance of the building during average conditions and varying amounts of overheating, which are expected to become more severe in the future.

Should you wish to get a copy of these weather files contact Met Éireann - The Irish Meteorological Service - enquiries@met.ie. A full list of available products and further details on data access can be found by visiting https://www.met.ie/climate/available-data/climate-data-for-thermal-modelling-of-buildings/.



Figure 7: Annual total SWCDH for different DSYs (colours), emission scenarios (rows), locations (columns) and time periods, both past and future. Error bars on future projections signify the range between the low and high sensitivity climate models, with the dot representing the mid-sensitivity ensemble. Note there are different y-axis limits for each row.

References

- Armstrong, B. G., Chalabi, Z., Fenn, B., Hajat, S., Kovats, S., Milojevic, A., & Wilkinson, P. (2011). Association of mortality with high temperatures in a temperate climate: England and wales. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 65(4), 340–345. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2009.093161
- Babar, B., Graversen, R., & Boström, T. (2019). Solar radiation estimation at high latitudes: Assessment of the CMSAF databases, ASR and ERA5. Solar Energy, 182, 397–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. solener.2019.02.058
- Bamdad, K., Cholette, M. E., Omrani, S., & Bell, J. (2021). Future energy-optimised buildings—addressing the impact of climate change on buildings. *Energy and Buildings*, 231, 110610. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.enbuild.2020.110610
- Brembilla, E., Hopfe, C. J., Mardaljevic, J., Mylona, A., & Mantesi, E. (2020). Balancing daylight and overheating in low-energy design using cibse improved weather files. *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, 41(2), 210–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143624419889057
- CIBSE. (2002). Guide J: weather, solar and illuminance data.
- Cleveland, W. S., Grosse, E., & Shyu, W. M. (1992). Local regression models. In J. Chambers & T. Hastie (Eds.), Statistical models in s. Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole.
- Doddy Clarke, E., Griffin, S., McDermott, F., Monteiro Correia, J., & Sweeney, C. (2021). Which reanalysis dataset should we use for renewable energy analysis in ireland? *Atmosphere*, 12(5), 624. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos12050624
- Dodoo, A., & Gustavsson, L. (2016). Energy use and overheating risk of Swedish multi-storey residential buildings under different climate scenarios. *Energy*, 97, 534–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy. 2015.12.086
- Eames, M. E. (2016). An update of the UK's design summer years: Probabilistic design summer years for enhanced overheating risk analysis in building design. Building services engineering research and technology, 37(5), 503–522. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143624416631131
- Eames, M. E., Kershaw, T., & Coley, D. (2011). On the creation of future probabilistic design weather years from UKCP09. Building Services Engineering Research and Technology, 32(2), 127–142. https: //doi.org/10.1177/0143624410379934
- Eames, M. E., Ramallo-Gonzalez, A. P., & Wood, M. (2016). An update of the UK's test reference year: The implications of a revised climate on building design. *Building Services Engineering Research* and Technology, 37(3), 316–333. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143624415605626
- Finkelstein, J. M., & Schafer, R. E. (1971). Improved goodness-of-fit tests. Biometrika, 58(3), 641–645. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/58.3.641
- Herrera, M., Natarajan, S., Coley, D. A., Kershaw, T., Ramallo-González, A. P., Eames, M., Fosas, D., & Wood, M. (2017). A review of current and future weather data for building simulation. Building Services Engineering Research and Technology, 38(5), 602–627. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0143624417705937
- Hersbach, H., Bell, B., Berrisford, P., Hirahara, S., Horányi, A., Muñoz-Sabater, J., Nicolas, J., Peubey, C., Radu, R., Schepers, D., et al. (2020). The ERA5 global reanalysis. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 146(730), 1999–2049. https://doi.org/10.1002/qj.3803
- Holmes, S. H., Phillips, T., & Wilson, A. (2016). Overheating and passive habitability: Indoor health and heat indices. Building Research & Information, 44(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218. 2015.1033875
- Jacob, D., Petersen, J., Eggert, B., Alias, A., Christensen, O. B., Bouwer, L. M., Braun, A., Colette, A., Déqué, M., Georgievski, G., et al. (2014). EURO-CORDEX: new high-resolution climate change projections for European impact research. *Regional environmental change*, 14, 563–578. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2
- Jentsch, M. F., Levermore, G. J., Parkinson, J. B., & Eames, M. E. (2014). Limitations of the cibse design summer year approach for delivering representative near-extreme summer weather conditions. *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, 35(2), 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 014362441347843
- Jylhä, K., Ruosteenoja, K., Böök, H., Lindfors, A., Pirinen, P., Laapas, M., & Mäkelä, A. (2020). Weather data for building-physical studies and the building energy reference year 2020 in a changing cli-

mate. Finn. Meteorol. Inst., Finnish with abstract in English. https://doi.org/10.35614/isbn. 9789523361287

- Lam, J. C., Hui, S. C., & Chan, A. L. (1996). A statistical approach to the development of a typical meteorological year for Hong Kong. Architectural Science Review, 39(4), 201–209. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00038628.1996.9696818
- Lee, K., Yoo, H., & Levermore, G. J. (2010). Generation of typical weather data using the iso test reference year (try) method for major cities of south korea. *Building and Environment*, 45(4), 956–963. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.10.002
- Lomas, K. J., & Porritt, S. M. (2017). Overheating in buildings: Lessons from research. Building Research & Information, 45(1-2), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2017.1256136
- Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M., et al. (2021). Climate change 2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change, 2. https: //doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896
- Michel, A., Sharma, V., Lehning, M., & Huwald, H. (2021). Climate change scenarios at hourly time-step over Switzerland from an enhanced temporal downscaling approach. *International Journal of Climatology*, 41(6), 3503–3522. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.7032
- NOAA. (2022). Solar Calculation Details. Earth Science Research Laboratories. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://gml.noaa.gov/grad/solcalc/calcdetails.html
- Nolan, P., & Flanagan, J. (2020). High-resolution climate projections for Ireland–A multi-model ensemble approach. *Environmental Protection Agency*. https://doi.org/10.31223/X5Z32W
- O'Brien, Enda and Nolan, Paul. (in press). TRANSLATE: Standardised Climate Projections for Ireland. Frontiers in Climate.
- Santamouris, M. (2020). Recent progress on urban overheating and heat island research. Integrated assessment of the energy, environmental, vulnerability and health impact. Synergies with the global climate change. *Energy and Buildings*, 207, 109482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2019.109482
- TEG. (2020a). Taxonomy Report: Final report of the Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance. Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance. Retrieved March 22, 2023, from https://finance.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2020-03/200309-sustainable-finance-teg-final-report-taxonomy en.pdf
- TEG. (2020b). Taxonomy Report: Technical Annex. Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance. Retrieved March 23, 2023, from https://finance.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2020-03/200309sustainable-finance-teg-final-report-taxonomy-annexes_en.pdf
- Velashjerdi Farahani, A., Jokisalo, J., Korhonen, N., Jylhä, K., Ruosteenoja, K., & Kosonen, R. (2021). Overheating risk and energy demand of nordic old and new apartment buildings during average and extreme weather conditions under a changing climate. *Applied Sciences*, 11(9), 3972. https: //doi.org/10.3390/app11093972
- Virk, G., Mylona, A., Mavrogianni, A., & Davies, M. (2015). Using the new cibse design summer years to assess overheating in london: Effect of the urban heat island on design. *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, 36(2), 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143624414566247
- Virtanen, P., Gommers, R., Oliphant, T. E., et al. (2020). SciPy 1.0: Fundamental Algorithms for Scientific Computing in Python. Nature Methods, 17, 261–272. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-019-0686-2
- Wehrli, K., Gubler, S., Settembrini, G., Sidler, F., & Kotlarski, S. (2022). Deriving future climate reference data for the swiss building sector (tech. rep.). Copernicus Meetings. https://doi.org/10.5194/ ems2022-395